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CROSS-BORDER JUSTICE BILL 2007 
Second Reading 

Resumed from 21 November 2007. 

HON SIMON O’BRIEN (South Metropolitan) [5.55 pm]: The Cross-border Justice Bill 2007 is quite a 
challenging, different and unusual bill, as the house will see. It breaks some new ground in very many senses. I 
had the privilege as Chairman of the Standing Committee on Uniform Legislation and Statutes Review to 
participate in an inquiry and present a report on this bill. I can tell members that from the point of view of a 
parliamentarian, it was technically a very interesting exercise to participate in that inquiry and to construct the 
report that members have available to them, which is the twenty-fourth report of the Standing Committee on 
Uniform Legislation and Statutes Review. One of the benefits of referring bills to a committee is that it allows 
for a more detailed examination of issues in a bipartisan environment, while simultaneously allowing the 
Legislative Council to deal more expeditiously with legislation in a plenary session of the house. I certainly hope 
that that will be the case with this bill. I will refer to the report during the course of the second reading debate 
and the Committee of the Whole House, and members may also wish to avail themselves of the report.  

The first things the committee had to consider were whether the bill had in fact been properly referred to us, and 
whether it fell within our terms of reference. Legislative Council standing order 230A(1) states — 

This order applies to a Bill that — 

(a) ratifies or gives effect to a bilateral or multilateral intergovernmental agreement to which the 
Government of the State is a party; or 

(b) by reason of its subject matter, introduces a uniform scheme or uniform laws throughout the 
Commonwealth. 

If standing order 230A applies to a bill, it is of course automatically referred to the Standing Committee on 
Uniform Legislation and Statutes Review for report within 30 days. However, one of the first peculiarities the 
committee noted about this bill was that at the time it was read in this house, referred to our committee and, 
indeed, passed through all stages in the other place, there was no intergovernmental agreement. The bill was 
conceived, written, lodged in the other place, went through all the processes, was read into this place and was 
received by our committee because it reflected an intergovernmental agreement, but there was no 
intergovernmental agreement. The committee therefore had to consider whether it had jurisdiction under 
standing order 230A, and there was some discussion on that point. If 230A(1) did not apply, we would have 
nevertheless been able to rely on another term of reference that permits us to inquire into and report on any 
proposal to reform existing law that may be referred by the house. The house has certainly seen fit to refer this 
bill to us, rightly or wrongly. That was one hook by which we could look at this bill, but possibly the best 
fallback we had was our term of reference that allowed us, of our own motion or on reference from a minister, to 
consider or review the development and formulation of any proposal or agreement, the implementation of which 
would require the enactment of legislation made subject to standing order 230A. One way or another, the 
committee thought it had better proceed with an inquiry. We did that and we also adopted the attitude of a 30-
day referral period, which in effect meant that we would table our report on the first sitting day of the Legislative 
Council this year. 

Sitting suspended from 6.00 to 7.30 pm 
Hon SIMON O’BRIEN: In the few minutes I had available to speak before the dinner break, I was discussing 
whether this bill was subject to the normal standing order 230(a) reference to the Standing Committee on 
Uniform Legislation and Statutes Review, and how we found ways to make it subject to our terms of reference 
and persevere in the normal intrepid way. I will be referring to the fruits of our inquiry—namely, the twenty-
fourth report of the standing committee. Perhaps I should firstly turn to the finding of that committee without 
further ado.  

One of the purposes of the reference to the standing committee in such circumstances is to ensure that the bill 
complies with the intergovernmental agreement that gave rise to the referral. Members will recall that no 
intergovernmental agreement was entered into until five days after the bill had not only been through another 
place, but had also been read a second time in this place and referred to our committee. We also discovered that 
the intergovernmental agreement was structured in such a way that Western Australia would implement a bill, 
and that bill would then be the model for other jurisdictions—in this case, South Australia and the Northern 
Territory—to follow. The terms of that bill would effectively be the terms of the intergovernmental agreement. 
Given that situation, it would have been pretty well impossible for even this government to have not complied 
with that particular requirement. Our finding is that the Cross-border Justice Bill 2007 is consistent with the 
terms of the intergovernmental memorandum of agreement. Having established that, we can now look at the 
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scope of the bill as observed by the parliamentary secretary in her second reading speech and reproduced at 
paragraph 6.4 of our report, which states — 

Cross border justice schemes will involve police, magistrates, fines enforcement agencies, community 
corrections officers and prisons of one jurisdiction being able to deal with offences that may have been 
committed in one of the other participating jurisdictions.  

This is breaking new ground, certainly in my experience. As I indicated to members earlier, it is technically a 
very interesting view from the point of view of a member of Parliament. The bill seeks to establish a legal 
machinery and framework that prescribes cross-border regions. I will return to that shortly. Indeed, the 
committee report contains a recommendation relating to the prescribing of cross-border regions.  
The bill also creates a concept of connection with a cross-border region, furthermore proving that in the case of a 
person, there is a connection with a cross-border region. That is an interesting concept in itself, again one that we 
will touch on in the committee stage, because there is a recommendation in the report that invites the government 
to reconsider the matters that deal with, in the committee’s view, a reversal of the onus of proof in connection 
with establishing connection with a cross-border region. That could be problematic. We will come to that at a 
later stage in the debate.  
The bill also allows for police powers to be exercised in another participating jurisdiction; that is, interstate, over 
the border. It further provides for police officers of other jurisdictions—specifically, the Northern Territory and 
South Australia—to exercise their powers in our jurisdiction. The bill also provides for the exercise of cross-
border jurisdiction by the courts. It deals with questions of bail, sentences, orders, custody and the enforcement 
of fines. In relation to the latter, there is another recommendation in the committee’s report that we examine 
more closely in the committee stage the question of property and how this bill is to be reconciled upon the settled 
property law of Western Australia. 

During the committee’s inquiry, we had the benefit of the advice of a number of witnesses, the names of whom 
are recorded in the report. On behalf of the committee, I would like to record our appreciation to Ms Helen 
Thomas, acting manager, strategic business development, court and tribunal services division, Department of the 
Attorney General, who was the instructing officer on the bill; Ms Gale Jamieson, assistant parliamentary counsel 
and principal drafting officer; Mr Robert Skesteris, executive manager, indigenous community diversity and 
corporate research, Western Australia Police; and Inspector Darryl Gaunt, project manager, remote service 
delivery project, Western Australia Police. I thank each of those witnesses for their assistance.  
Members may wish to examine the transcript of our hearing, which is contained in an appendix to the report. As 
part of that inquiry, we examined a range of issues that touch on the provisions of the bill. It was something of a 
learning experience for members to discover rather a lot about the practical difficulties of policing in the remote 
border areas of Western Australia. I am sure members will appreciate reading parts of that transcript. Not all of it 
bears directly on the bill but members may wish to avail themselves of the opportunity to find out a little more 
about this rarely visited subject. 
The standing committee saw fit to refer four matters to the house for its detailed consideration. I want to touch 
on those now. Before doing so, though, I want to give a brief view of the opposition’s position on this bill. We 
note the remarks in the second reading speech, which explained, to some extent, the genesis of the bill. In order 
to fully understand this bill and why it has been brought to the house, one has to try to place oneself right out in 
the remote area, the border country of Western Australia with the Northern Territory or South Australia. I do not 
know how many members of this place have been to the central border country of Western Australia right out 
there in that far-flung area. I have been to most places in Western Australia, including some very, very remote 
places that few people ever get to go, but I do not think I have been out to the very centre, and I also suspect that 
not many members here have done so either. The remote border country poses some particular challenges for 
law enforcement, and, indeed, for other service providers. This bill deals with cross-border justice 
considerations, and I will now focus on that aspect. 
It is of concern to law enforcement officials and also to the communities those officials serve in these remote 
areas that the presence of the border between the jurisdictions can impose a severe barrier to law enforcement, 
and, in turn, impose a barrier to communities getting the protection they need from offenders. Members may be 
interested to know that, as a matter of course, police officers from the jurisdictions—South Australia, Western 
Australia and the Northern Territory—already work on each other’s patch and are all suitably sworn in as 
officers in each other’s jurisdictions. On many occasions, when on patrol, visiting a remote community or 
making inquiries, they do so in each other’s company. For example, a South Australian officer and a Western 
Australian officer may together visit a community in remote Western Australia wearing their respective 
uniforms. The people of the communities that they visit do not bat an eyelid; it is what they are used to. Even 
though there is a very real border out there, and the border matters from the point of view of legal jurisdiction, it 
is not as though one gets out there and finds a great big dotted line drawn on the ground to show the border. I 
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suspect that the signposts would be very few and far between, and that in many cases people crossing the border 
may not do so via any form of established track or roadway. The border is simply a piece of ground that they, 
and those who have gone before them, have traversed for thousands of years. The idea of a border is a very alien 
concept that, frankly, does not come into people’s day-to-day considerations. What can and does happen is that 
offences are committed in one jurisdiction by people who then decamp, either in the sense of fleeing from a 
crime scene or simply moving on, and cross over into another jurisdiction. The question arises about how to deal 
with that situation from the point of view not only of the communities that want protection from offenders, but 
also from those who are charged with enforcing the law. There can be some adverse consequences from both 
sides of the equation. From the point of view of law enforcement, the answers are obvious. An officer cannot 
simply nip over the border into the Northern Territory in pursuit of an offender who has, for example, committed 
an offence in Western Australia, identify the offender—probably with the help of his Northern Territory 
counterpart—arrest the offender, throw him in the back of the paddy wagon, and take him back to face justice in 
Western Australia. An officer just cannot do that! Similarly, members can readily appreciate that in many cases, 
given the realities of life out in that frontier, it is not practical to go down the route of extradition procedure in 
such a remote area. On many occasions, it is not administratively feasible in terms of practicality, and even less 
so in terms of expense. It might be one thing if an officer is inquiring into a murder or some other very serious 
crime; however, much of the crime in the cross-border area is relatively petty in nature and would not justify 
bringing in, on a daily basis, all the machinery of extradition to deal with it.  
On the flip side of the coin, it can also be problematic for offenders because quite often, taking an offender back 
to the jurisdiction where they allegedly committed the offence involves extraordinary difficulties on the 
offender’s part on being removed from his community, or as the bill says, from the cross-border region they have 
a “connection with”. For example, we recently saw, in an unrelated incident, the problems of transporting 
someone in the back of a paddy wagon in a remote area. That particular incident had a most unfortunate 
outcome. Nonetheless the genesis of this bill was described by the minister during the second reading speech in 
terms that reflected the problem, and I quote — 

In June 2003, some 50 people met in Alice Springs for the Ngaanyatjarra Pitjantjatjara Yankunytjatjara 
Lands Tri-jurisdictional Justice Initiatives Roundtable. Those present included members of the 
Ngaanyatjarra Pitjantjatjara Yankunytjatjara Women’s Council, magistrates, senior police, court 
administrators, community corrections officers, lawyers and others with an interest in doing something 
to address the deleterious effects of domestic violence, child abuse, sexual abuse, substance abuse and 
other forms of offending behaviour on communities in the remote region where the borders of Western 
Australia, South Australia and the Northern Territory meet. In response to the serious problems 
identified at the roundtable and the obvious need for something to be done about them, the governments 
of this state, South Australia and the Northern Territory initiated the cross-border justice project.  

That now brings us to the bill before the house. The opposition supports the Cross-border Justice Bill, and in so 
doing wants to make that a gesture of support to not only the communities in remote Western Australia 
confronted with some of the problems that have just been listed, but also to our police officers who, on many 
occasions, have the quite extraordinarily difficult job of enforcing the law in a place where people have a 
wandering lifestyle that takes them back and forward in the normal course of events from one jurisdiction to 
another. We are also aware that the crossing of jurisdiction, from one place to another, is not only a casual thing 
that occurs in the normal course of events but is also a method employed by offenders who wish to escape the 
consequences of their actions and avoid being brought to justice. I have already explained the practical 
difficulties that sometimes make that pursuit of offenders by law enforcement officials quite impractical. The 
cross-border justice project enables offenders to be dealt with in another jurisdiction—the jurisdiction in many 
cases in which they will be apprehended, having committed an offence and crossed a border into another 
jurisdiction. To do that, there is, as the government has described it, a radical plan whereby all the officials who 
are involved, whether they be magistrates, police, community corrections officers and so on, will be able to deal 
with matters in the location or jurisdiction that the offender is in. You will be glad to know, Mr Deputy 
President, that I will not go through every possible permutation, but I can if members insist. 

Hon Bruce Donaldson: I’d like you to! 

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT (Hon Graham Giffard): Please do not be distracted by the unruly interjection. 

Hon SIMON O’BRIEN: For example, if an offence is committed on Western Australian soil and the alleged 
offender decamps, as our law officers say — 

Hon Kim Chance: In an easterly direction. 

Hon SIMON O’BRIEN: — in an easterly direction to a jurisdiction near the Northern Territory-South Australia 
border, the offender will be able to be apprehended by an officer, be it a Western Australian officer or a South 
Australian officer, in South Australia. The offender will then be able to be taken, in accordance with law, to a 



Extract from Hansard 
[COUNCIL - Wednesday, 27 February 2008] 

 p371c-387a 
Hon Simon O'Brien; The Deputy President; Hon Giz Watson; Hon Sue Ellery 

 [4] 

court to appear before the nearest justice. That justice might still be a long way away—it might be 100 or 
200 kilometres, but in many cases it would be better than trying to extradite the offender maybe 600 or 
700 kilometres back to Western Australia. 

Hon Bruce Donaldson: How do they shift them—by van? 

Hon SIMON O’BRIEN: By some suitable means, member. The court could then deal with the offender in 
South Australia in accordance with Western Australian law. The reverse would apply in the case of an offender 
from South Australia being apprehended in Western Australia. The bill contains the necessary machinery to 
enable this to be done. 

As I indicated, there are four main areas of concern that the standing committee has identified that we will need 
to address. I will allude to them briefly now, and no doubt we will pursue them in detail at the committee stage. 
First, I refer to clause 19 of the bill, which relates to regulation. It states — 

A cross-border region is a region that — 

(a) straddles the border between the State and one or both of the other participating jurisdictions; 
and  

(b) is prescribed by the regulations to be a cross-border region. 

In the course of the committee’s inquiry, we asked the witnesses exactly where this region is. There is a focus on 
the Ngaanyatjarra Pitjantjatjara Yankunytjatjara area. Because we were not familiar with that area, the witnesses 
were able to provide us with a map headed “Cross Border Justice Project – Draft Boundaries”, which is included 
in appendix 5 of the committee report. Interestingly, the crests of both the Western Australian and South 
Australian police forces are shown on the top of the map of the draft boundaries. The map that we were provided 
with is in colour, and the minister might well have that available to her. This indicates the sort of very remote 
country in which it is proposed that this law will apply. The concern is that this is, in the government’s own 
words, a radical departure from what has gone before. The question that arises is: should the geographic 
application of this law be specified by Parliament, or should it be allowed to be simply prescribed by regulation? 
Members should bear in mind that this could conceivably apply to the full length of the Western Australian land 
border. I do not know that there is anything wrong with that; that does not offend me. The other thing we must 
understand is that it is not a one or two dimensional equation. It relates not only to that conceptual dotted line 
that is the border, but also to some very large landmasses that are around and across those various borders. This 
proposed law will apply inside those landmasses once they are prescribed, with all the police powers that go with 
it, whereas these laws will not apply outside those prescribed areas. There is a great deal of importance about 
where these particular regions will be prescribed. We might well state, possibly in the bill, that it is the whole 
length of the Western Australian border and 100 kilometres either side of it. Frankly, such a broadbrush 
approach would not be suitable. We have already indicated that we are talking about people whose civilisation 
and history goes back many thousands of years and who certainly do not recognise artificial western concepts 
such as borders. In some areas the extent of the region either side of the border might be broad to the extent of 
hundreds of kilometres, whereas at other points it might not need to be so broad. If we were talking only about 
the Western Australian border, that would also ignore the fact that the Northern Territory and South Australia 
also have a common border and so their border is also part of the equation. We have asked the house to 
contemplate through our first recommendation whether or not it is appropriate that clause 19 remain as it is; that 
is, to provide the power so that the future drawing of these cross-border regions are subject to regulation. Sure, 
there is always the power for disallowance, but, as we know, that is not really the central question. The central 
question is: should Parliament decide where this jurisdiction will be, or should it be able to be varied by the 
executive of the day? We will come to that in detail later. 

The second question is one that I ask the minister to specifically advise on. This is a pretty important matter. The 
people who are primarily located in or connected with the regions that we are talking about are Indigenous 
Australians. There is no doubt about that. Indeed, part of that community has asked for this regime to be put in 
place to address some of the problems it is experiencing. However, there was a view that some of the material 
that came to us in the second reading speech tended to indicate that this law will be particularly and exclusively 
for Indigenous people. We might be engaged in the second reading debate, but in terms of legal inquiry and 
recourse, it is not the second reading speech. That has been and done. Now, in the second reading debate, we 
need to somehow deal with the question: is this bill intended to apply exclusively to Indigenous people in remote 
communities?  

The answer, according to the inquiries the committee has made, is no, it is not, which is a good thing, because if 
this purported to be a law that applied to only Indigenous people in remote communities, it could run foul of a lot 
of other legal considerations that may well invalidate it. I am sure that is not the intention of the government, and 
neither should it be. Indeed, this could apply to any non-Indigenous person caught up as an offender in the same 
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circumstances in which he has committed an offence and then shot across the border to try to avoid apprehension 
or prosecution. However, it is important that the matter be raised now so that the government can make clear that 
this law is not intended to apply exclusively to Indigenous people in remote communities. 

I will also be asking the responsible minister, in accordance with the committee’s third recommendation, to 
discuss for the benefit of the committee—the government may wish to do this in the second reading response, 
but it is something we need to visit in committee—the provisions of clauses 27 and 28 of the bill. These relate to 
the reversal of the onus of proof in a couple of specific situations that apply uniquely to this proposed law. For 
example, clause 27(1) states — 

If whether a person was in a cross-border region at the time of the person’s arrest is in issue in a 
proceeding, the person has the onus of proving on the balance of probabilities that the person was not in 
the region at that time. 

It might well be easy for an accused to prove that if it needs to be proved. He may come up with a witness who 
says that he was with him in Darwin at the time. However, I suspect that on many occasions it would be 
impossible, or unreasonable, for an accused to be able to prove that. It seems to me a peculiar thing that we 
should be requiring a witness to prove that he was not somewhere. The normal case would be that the 
prosecution would have to prove that he was somewhere. Similarly, in clause 28, which deals with the question 
of providing proof of whether a person ordinarily resides or resided in a cross-border region at a particular time, 
the onus is again cast onto the potential accused. Again, without prejudice, we would ask the government to 
explain why that is necessary. We will not discount it because there may well be a good reason, but we had 
better put it on the record. 

Finally, we also contemplated with part 12 of the bill whether there would be an unforeseen and adverse impact 
of these provisions on the settled property law of Western Australia. Part 12 deals with the enforcement of fines. 
Let us face it, if we are talking about largely itinerant people who tend to move all the time from state to state in 
remote areas, the enforcement of fines might be a problematic exercise. The existing machinery that is in place is 
contained in the Fines, Penalties and Infringement Notices Enforcement Act and administered through the Fines 
Enforcement Registry and so on. The trouble is that here we are talking about a cross-jurisdictional law, and 
other fines enforcement provisions are in place in those other jurisdictions. If we are talking about recovering 
fines, for example, by way of seizing property, how will be it be affected by it occurring in the name of a 
Western Australian law against South Australian property or vice versa? I am giving only an overview now, but 
when one contemplates this, it could become quite a minefield. It is therefore something we need to consider and 
kick around in committee in due course.  

The opposition does support this proposed law and wants to find a way to make it work. Quite apart from 
supporting it, we raise these matters, as I think did the committee, in a constructive way because we do not want 
to end up with a law that causes our systems to fall foul of racial discrimination laws when there is no intention 
by anyone for this to be a racially discriminating matter. We do not want the system to collapse through 
uncertainties about property laws. A few other issues will also probably be teased out during the committee 
stage, for example, the jurisdiction of Corruption and Crime Commission officers and how they conduct 
themselves in Western Australia if they are either Western Australian officers acting as South Australian officers 
or if they are South Australian officers acting as such in Western Australia. Are they subject to the very 
necessary provisions of our Corruption and Crime Commission laws? There are many potential pitfalls. I think it 
would be easy to say that here is a problem, here is another problem and here is a problem again and that we can 
foresee all sorts of difficulties, but that is not the spirit with which the opposition approaches this bill. We want 
to make sure that we have good law. I think to some extent we will have to closely observe how the law 
operates. I have noticed a supplementary notice paper indicating that Hon Giz Watson will move for a review 
clause. 

Hon Sue Ellery: We will be supporting it. 

Hon SIMON O’BRIEN: I think the government should. I am sure that a review would happen anyway, but it is 
only appropriate that Parliament supports the law by inserting such a clause to make it absolutely compulsory. If 
one wanted to approach this in all its complexity, one could find many dimensions to this bill and it could take a 
very long time to examine it. Fortunately, we have the benefit of a committee inquiry and its report. I certainly 
assure the house that the bill has the support of the opposition, in spirit as well as in fact. We support the bill and 
the second reading. 

HON GIZ WATSON (North Metropolitan) [8.09 pm]: The Greens (WA) will also support the Cross-border 
Justice Bill 2007. We note the bill provides for the criminal justice systems of South Australia, the Northern 
Territory and Western Australia to operate across their mutual borders in certain circumstances without having to 
rely on formal extradition under the current process, which is provided under the commonwealth Service and 
Execution of Process Acts 1992. The population distribution suggests that the main impact of this bill will 
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indeed be on Aboriginal people. As the Deputy Leader of the Opposition has said, it is an interesting bill and a 
novel bill in what it is attempting to do. It is to be applauded that we are attempting with legislation to recognise 
that certain boundaries create significant problems to not only the justice system but also other systems of 
governance if the bulk of the population does not reside in one or other of the states or territories.  

The central area is one area. In many ways, the Kimberley/Northern Territory area is not dissimilar. The Greens 
(WA) are supportive of the bill and are keen for it to achieve its objectives. The bill will serve as a model for 
South Australia and the Northern Territory, both of which will have to legislate before the cross-border scheme 
can become effective. Western Australia is the first cab off the rank in that regard. The bill has been a long time 
in the making. It arose from concerns expressed by the Ngaanyatjarra Pitjantjatjara Yankunytjatjara Women’s 
Council about offending, particularly violent offending, in the lands area. The then Department of Justice issued 
a discussion paper and, in 2005, the Aboriginal Legal Service of Western Australia was invited to make a 
submission, which it did. I note that it supported the concept of the bill, but not necessarily the mechanics 
proposed to implement it, particularly due to concerns about certain practical and administrative matters that 
would negatively impact on Aboriginal people. It seems that the bill addresses only some of those concerns. 
Having said that, the Greens remain supportive of it.  

The bill was referred to the Standing Committee on Uniform Legislation and Statutes Review, and its report was 
tabled on 19 February this year. I was slightly concerned when I read that the committee took evidence from the 
Department of the Attorney General, parliamentary counsel and the police without consulting any Indigenous 
representative body. With the abolition of the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Commission and other such 
bodies, the Aboriginal Legal Service is the only large funded and organised body that can provide considered 
input into complicated legal matters of this nature. It might have been useful for the Standing Committee on 
Uniform Legislation and Statutes Review to have sought the Aboriginal Legal Service’s response to the bill, 
particularly given that it had input during the original round of submissions in 2005.  

Hon Simon O’Brien: It often happens that the committee’s reporting date—and, in this case, we had Christmas 
as well—makes it difficult for us to advertise widely and to get the input we would like. On the day that we took 
evidence from witnesses about this bill, we also took evidence from witnesses about two other bills. We 
interviewed the prime authors of the bill, because we would not have been able to do it justice if we threw it 
open to everyone. The member is right. It was our disappointment that we could not do that.  

Hon GIZ WATSON: That is a perfectly reasonable explanation. I was not necessarily being overly critical of 
the committee, because I realise that it is constrained by the 30-day requirement. I have always thought that that 
30-day requirement is too restrictive. 

Hon Simon O’Brien: Your comments are appreciated. 

Hon GIZ WATSON: My criticism is that here we are, dealing with a piece of legislation which came about at 
the request of an Indigenous organisation and which will largely impact on Indigenous people because they 
comprise the bulk of the population in the area concerned, yet there has been no specific feedback about the bill 
from the only Aboriginal body that has the legal capacity and resources to thoroughly scrutinise it. Having said 
that, I had some difficulty getting a response from it too. That is probably indicative that it is also —  

Hon Simon O’Brien: It was a difficult time of year. The bill was lobbed on us in the last sitting week, when 
everyone was starting their holidays.  

Hon GIZ WATSON: The Aboriginal Legal Service is often completely inundated, and dealing with specific 
cases whilst providing comment on legislation is difficult.  

In dealing with the issues raised in the bill, I will borrow the words contained in the ALS’s 2005 submission to 
the then Department of Justice. The aim of improving justice outcomes for residents of the cross-border region 
and the underlying principle that all Western Australians are equally entitled to justice are laudable aims. The 
provisions relating to the repatriation of people not charged, which is dealt with in clause 36, and to the 
registration of interstate restraining orders are particularly useful. The opportunities that exist for improvements 
in our criminal justice system, for example, to imprison those people who are required to be imprisoned nearer to 
their families are also very good initiatives. I will repeat my often made comment that the incarceration rate for 
Aboriginal Australians is appalling. Imprisoning people closer to their families provides the greatest chance that 
a person has of successfully reintegrating back into a community and of reducing his chances of reoffending, 
because he is able to maintain strong contacts with family members and friends. That is the golden thread that 
provides an incentive for people when they leave the prison system to reintegrate into the community and to not 
be a recidivist. 

Some significant issues in the bill need to be addressed. The first point is the retrospective application of the bill, 
which is dealt with in clause 18. The bill extends the application of the act to offences, court orders and 
requirements arising under the law dating from before the commencement of the act as well after it. The Greens 
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are fundamentally opposed to retrospective legislation. I note that often the Parliament takes a similar view. I 
will be interested to hear the minister’s explanation for why a retrospective provision is required. I will pursue it 
more during the committee stage. It is arguable whether it will achieve very much.  

The second matter, which Hon Simon O’Brien spoke about, relates to clause 19, which defines the cross-border 
areas. The clause provides that the cross-border regions are regions that straddle the border and regions that are 
prescribed by regulations. Recommendation 1 of the committee’s report suggests that a cross-border region 
should be prescribed in the bill itself rather than being left to a regulation. I was briefed on this matter yesterday, 
and some of my concerns have since been alleviated. It is an interesting question. We are treading onto novel 
territory. The indicative boundaries, as I read them in the appendix in the committee’s report, clearly follow 
pastoral boundaries, so there are still straight lines. I do not know how to define the Ngaanyatjarra, Pitjantjatjara 
and Yankunytjatjara regions. I make the point that even though a straight line can be defined somewhere else, 
there is still the problem of people crossing that line. Fundamentally, I am willing to give this provision a go, 
because it is a useful initiative.  

The question of exactly how those borders will be prescribed will be a very tricky one. I assume that police 
operating in these areas must operate with a global positioning system on all the time so that they know exactly 
when they have crossed the boundary, which is not apparent when driving down a dirt track.  

I will talk to the issue raised in the standing committee report of the application of the bill to only Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people. The committee raised in its report the question of whether the bill is limited in 
application to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people, and recommended that the minister advise the 
council on this. It is my understanding that the bill will formally apply to any person with a geographical 
connection to the region, irrespective of race, but will, in substance, impact mostly on Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander people because of the population distribution in those relevant areas. I am again satisfied with the 
response that I received on that. It would seem that it would have been a very significant consideration to not 
draft the bill in a way that only applied to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people because that might well 
fall foul of racial discrimination legislation as well.  

I will raise the reversal of the onus of proof, clause 27 and clause 28. Those clauses place on the defendant the 
onus of proving his or her whereabouts at the time of arrest, and of proving his or her residency on the balance of 
probabilities. The principle of onus of proof is one that the Greens have held a consistent position on, no matter 
what the legislation. This particular provision does cause us concern and we consider that it is inappropriate for 
the following reasons: in criminal law proceedings, generally the onus is on the prosecution to give all the 
elements of the offence. People are presumed innocent unless they are proven guilty—in most laws in Australia! 
As most defendants are likely to be Aboriginal, given the locality, the clause is discriminatory in its effect. 
Defendants in these matters are likely to be disadvantaged in court by not speaking standard Australian English 
as their first language. Western Australia does not have an interpreting service covering the whole area—and I 
remind the government that there is still a need for a statewide Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander language 
interpreting service to be established. It is very fundamental to the provision of justice if people cannot access 
interpreting services appropriate to their language throughout the state. People who are already struggling with 
the language of the courts should not be further disadvantaged by having the onus placed on them to prove 
certain matters. 

Finally, defendants may not have a legal representative due to poverty and if a grant of legal aid is not available. 
There is a lower number of lawyers and court officers in the regions than in Perth, and under the relevant 
professional laws, a lawyer cannot assist a person—in this case, the defendant—if he or she has previously 
provided legal help to the other party—in this case, the prosecution witness. The low number of legal 
representatives in the region suggests that this is likely to happen more often in the remote regions than in Perth. 
I am certainly aware—again from conversation with the Aboriginal Legal Service—that there is a real problem, 
particularly in cases of domestic violence, which I think is one of particular areas that this legislation is hoping to 
provide some justice for, and certainly more speedy and effective justice, that often the defendant approaches the 
Aboriginal Legal Service for aid in the first instance, which means that the other party cannot use that service. 
There is also a dearth of other legal services in these remote Aboriginal areas. It is a significant issue that the 
women in these cases often find it hard to get legal representation, which is a very good argument for the 
establishment of a separate Aboriginal women’s legal service, to deal with that very problem. It is not only these 
remote areas, but statewide. The committee stated in its report that it was also concerned by this provision and 
recommended that the minister advise the council why the reversal onus is necessary.  

Clause 73 deals with legal representation interstate. The bill provides for a WA court to sit at a location in the 
Northern Territory or South Australia and vice versa. This means that legal representatives, including Aboriginal 
court officers holding a certificate under section 48 of the Aboriginal Affairs Planning Authority Act 1972, must 
be sufficiently trained in the law of all three jurisdictions, which differ substantially in significant respects, to 
represent people prosecuted under interstate law in the legal representative’s home jurisdiction and/or have 
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sufficient access to video link to ensure people’s prosecution interstate under the law of the legal representative’s 
home jurisdiction. Video link would need to include time for the defendant and the legal representative to 
communicate privately for the purpose of giving advice and receiving instructions. When necessary, hearings 
would also need to be able to travel to WA courts located in the Northern Territory or South Australia. In the 
case of Legal Aid WA, the Aboriginal Legal Service WA and community legal centres, they should be 
permitted, by the terms of their various funding contracts, to appear in WA courts located interstate, and/or to 
represent people in South Australia or Northern Territory courts sitting in WA. 

In the case of WA’s Aboriginal court officers, the Northern Territory and South Australia do not have court 
officers permitted to represent clients in court. South Australia and the Northern Territory will need to legislate 
to allow the court officers to represent people in WA courts sitting in South Australia or the Northern Territory 
to ensure that Aboriginal people in WA courts located in South Australia or NT have the same rights to legal 
representation as within WA borders, and perhaps also allow court officers to represent people in South Australia 
or NT courts sitting in WA. This is one of the practical matters that perhaps the minister can give some 
indication of whether this has been considered, particularly the funding for this additional work.  

Training relevant staff in the laws of three jurisdictions, or alternatively paying for travel and/or video link, 
including time for private communication between defendants and legal representatives who are giving advice 
and receiving instructions, will be expensive. To ensure people appearing in WA courts have no less access to 
legal representation when the court is physically located interstate, the WA government needs to confirm that, if 
sought, it will provide sufficient funding to Legal Aid WA, community legal centres and the ALS if the federal 
government does not do this. This will enable these organisations to represent people in WA courts sitting at 
interstate locations. I ask for some assurance that the government is actually intending to do this.  

The next issue I raise is about after-hours and urgent bail applications. I understand that in WA, justices of the 
peace normally deal with after-hours or urgent bail applications, but this is not the process in either the Northern 
Territory or South Australia. In the Northern Territory, after-hours or urgent matters can be dealt with by 
telephone or video link before a magistrate. Clause 68 provides that bail proceedings under the WA law may be 
heard and determined in a court in a participating jurisdiction. Clause 92 provides that the WA Bail Act 1982 
applies to people held in custody under WA law at an interstate location. I ask the minister what practical 
mechanism is in place for such people to access a WA JP for after-hours applications? For example, will there be 
a JP on roster to deal with these matters by telephone?  

I raise the issue of watchdog, or monitoring, functions. This is a practical issue that has also been raised by the 
Aboriginal Legal Service, prison reform action groups and the standing committee in its twenty-fourth report. 

The bill provides for people to be placed in police custody, or serve custodial terms under WA law, interstate. I 
understand WA laws apply to police custody—clause 34(3)—but interstate laws apply to the carrying out of 
custodial orders interstate. I note that this is discussed in the section of the explanatory memorandum pertaining 
to clauses 106 to 108. There are substantial differences between WA, the Northern Territory and South Australia 
in the government and community watchdog processes that help to protect the welfare of defendants and 
prisoners. The monitoring processes in Western Australia include the processes in the Office of the Inspector of 
Custodial Services, the coronial process, follow-up to ensure that any coronial recommendations are 
implemented, the police complaints process, the Corruption and Crime Commission process, the Ombudsman’s 
process and the role of the Aboriginal Legal Service of Western Australia, the Deaths in Custody Watch 
Committee WA, prison reform action groups and others in drawing to Parliament’s attention the areas in which 
improvements are needed in our criminal justice system. 

The Office of the Inspector of Custodial Services is an example of the differences that exist between Western 
Australia, South Australia and the Northern Territory in monitoring. In Western Australia, the inspector and his 
office provide a level of systematic protection to people in Western Australian prisons. My understanding is that 
currently there is no equivalent in the Northern Territory or South Australia. Clause 139 of the bill states that the 
Office of the Inspector of Custodial Services will not have a role with people held in custody under WA law in 
South Australia or the Northern Territory. Likewise, the Aboriginal Legal Service of Western Australia’s 2005 
submission, oral advice from the Prison Reform Group of Western Australia and the committee’s report have all 
raised concerns that other of this state’s monitoring or watchdog bodies and processes will also have limitations 
on their roles in relation to people dealt with interstate, albeit as a result of conviction under WA law. For 
example, if a person dies interstate while in police custody under WA law, or while being transported, what 
power does a WA coroner, the ALS or the Deaths in Custody Watch Committee realistically have to achieve the 
implementation of coronial recommendations that relate to government and non-government facilities or people 
interstate? I would suggest perhaps not much. 

Protection should not be stripped away from one category of people who are subject to WA law, bearing in mind 
the recommendations of the Royal Commission into Aboriginal Deaths in Custody and that Aboriginal people 
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are still dying in custody today. Aboriginal people, in particular, must not be deprived of this protection. At the 
same time, however, there may sometimes be benefits that flow from holding a person in custody interstate. For 
example, in some situations the location of an interstate prison might enable a prisoner to have more frequent 
contact with his or her family—I should note that that was considered most desirable in recommendation 168 of 
the Royal Commission into Aboriginal Deaths in Custody—or reduce the time a prisoner needs to spend being 
transported, or an interstate prison might be more suitable than a WA prison for a particular prisoner for some 
other reason, such as the availability of a rehabilitation service or program. The Office of the Inspector of 
Custodial Services does not propose that this jurisdiction be extended to South Australia or the Northern 
Territory, but supports the development of interstate or federal custodial services roles in those regions, informed 
consent and also review of the effect of the bill on prisoners. 

This brings me to my next point about the laudable objective of being able to consider that a prisoner might be 
best imprisoned in a particular location, even though it is not where the offence was committed, for reasons 
largely, I assume, to do with proximity to family. However, there might be other advantages. The point that I 
make is that, in my view—I had this conversation when I had a briefing on this bill yesterday—as it stands at the 
moment, it is up to the court to determine where the person will be imprisoned. As I understand it, it was put to 
me that the magistrate or the judge would automatically give consideration to which was the most favourable 
location for the prisoner. If this is an attempt to provide an opportunity for the best outcome for the prisoner—I 
guess the person is a prisoner once he has been convicted—I argue that the prisoner is in the best position to 
decide which is the best location, if the outcome is to improve the chances of connection with the community 
and rehabilitation. I will say on the record that I made a comparison. In not dissimilar legislation—I do not think 
it has been first read yet, but it is in train, whether it is a draft bill or whether it has just not been tabled in the 
Parliament—the Prisoners (Interstate Transfer) Amendment Bill 2007, it specifically notes that when transferring 
prisoners between states or territories, it is a requirement that the consent of the prisoner be sought. I argue that 
this is a similar situation. At the very least, the default position would be that the prisoner would be detained in 
the prison at the place where the court decision was made. Therefore, if the court case was heard in Western 
Australia — 

Hon Sue Ellery: What is the name of the bill? 

Hon GIZ WATSON: It is the Prisoners (Interstate Transfer) Amendment Bill 2007. That is the default position 
as it stands at the moment. If the person was convicted in WA and it was considered that it would be a better 
outcome for that person to be imprisoned in South Australia or the Northern Territory, that person should have to 
consent to that decision. 

Hon Sue Ellery: There is a difference between asking for the person’s view and taking that into account and a 
system under which a prisoner must consent to whichever prison he is allocated to. I am sympathetic to a view 
that we ought to take into account the prisoner’s own views about things, but whether we hand over the decision 
of which prison anybody goes to might be taking it a step too far. 

Hon GIZ WATSON: Certainly, a clear provision that that would be a consideration in the judgement would go 
some way to addressing the concern that I have raised. In any event, I will leave that with the minister to 
consider. 

The final point I want to make is that this bill does indeed break new ground and presents opportunities for the 
three jurisdictions to both cooperate and cost shift, which I am sure has potentially been considered. The 
difficulty it poses for monitoring and watchdog activities by the usual WA bodies means that both the 
advantages and disadvantages of the scheme may be invisible, and that is one of the concerns about, for example, 
the capacity of the Inspector of Custodial Services to have any role. I appreciate that it is a difficult legal 
question. The difficulty pointed out is that some corrective service functions are carried out by private 
contractors, not by the government. The recent death in custody tragedy means that the issue of prisoner 
transport comes to mind immediately. Another difficulty also raised is that the harmony between the laws in the 
different jurisdictions causes its own difficulties. Each jurisdiction has its own approach to sentencing options 
for adults and juveniles for different offences. A particular offence might attract mandatory sentencing in one 
jurisdiction compared with a non-custodial alternative with a rehabilitative focus in another jurisdiction. Of 
course, the mandatory sentencing provisions that are still on the statutes in WA are an example of that. 

Another potential area of difference is spent convictions. Multiple offenders in the cross-border region may 
experience a multiplicity of approaches. This lack of consistency may reduce their rehabilitation prospects. The 
Prison Reform Group of Western Australia strongly suggests that this bill should operate in a context of working 
towards greater universality and harmony between the three jurisdictions. I wonder whether this has also been 
considered in terms of the ultimate aim of having more consistency in the penalties and the approaches to 
matters of justice in the states and territories.  
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The fact is that this is novel legislation and has quite complex processes and applications. I will recommend that 
the bill be subject to a review after three years, and I am pleased to see that the minister has indicated that the 
government is supportive of this amendment. It seems to me that there are question marks over what regions the 
new legislation will apply to, not least the question I raised about possible cost-shifting and the issue of 
harmonising between penalties in the different states and territories. I am sure that the bill will be reviewed 
anyway, but it is very important that it is a requirement that the bill be reviewed after three years. The Greens 
(WA) think that this will improve the final outcome. With those comments, the Greens (WA) support the bill. 

HON SUE ELLERY (South Metropolitan — Minister for Child Protection) [8.41 pm] — in reply: I thank 
members for their contributions to the debate. Both members who have commented have remarked on the 
uniqueness of the bill and the challenging and potentially complex situation that this piece of legislation tries to 
deal with. I thank members of the Standing Committee on Uniform Legislation and Statutes Review for the work 
they did, not least of which included sorting out the jurisdictional question before them in their inquiry, and 
working through the issue of how the committee might actually deal with this legislation within the borders of its 
terms of reference. I thank them for the work they did. 
We are confronted with a piece of legislation that came about because a group of Aboriginal women stood up 
and said that enough is enough. They asked the respective agencies operating across the three jurisdictions we 
are talking about—Western Australia, Northern Territory and South Australia—to consider stepping outside the 
square, so to speak, and to put aside their respective agency barriers and think about the outcomes they might 
want in taking real measures to address the problem of offenders in the remote regions of central Australia using 
the state and territory borders to elude police or avoid court appearances. Agencies previously had no capacity to 
break the cycle of these difficulties in areas such as domestic violence, child abuse, substance abuse and repeat 
offending. I am pleased that the respective governments and their officers stepped up to the challenge. It is no 
small feat to get agencies within a jurisdiction to step out of their barriers, let alone agencies from three separate 
jurisdictions. I commend all the people involved in bringing us this legislation. In my response I will address 
some of the issues raised by members, but other legitimate matters have been raised for which I will need to seek 
advice, so it would be better to canvass those in committee. 
The overriding point I want to make is that this is enabling legislation. The philosophy taken by the drafters was 
that they tried to minimise changes to other legislation. Where changes were required, the drafters took the view 
that the changes be made in the regulations in the form of modifications, so that the other act we may be talking 
about at any given point will be affected only insofar as it is applied within the defined parameters of the cross-
border justice situation. As far as possible, this legislation is about enabling and authorising officers in any of the 
jurisdictions to operate under the legal provisions of the other jurisdictions. It is important that I establish the 
concept of connection to the cross-border region, because this goes to one of the issues raised by the committee 
and by the members.  
A matter will fall within the scope of the cross-border justice scheme only if the offence is “connected”—that is 
the specific word used—to the cross-border region. The criteria that determine whether there is a connection are: 
that the alleged offence occurred within the cross-border region; that the offender was arrested within the cross-
border region; or that the offender normally resides within the cross-border region. I will come back to the 
importance of that in a minute. 
With one or two specific exceptions, the bill will not create new laws for dealing with offences. It is an enabling 
mechanism; members have to think about that. I am pleased that both members who have spoken have come at 
this legislation with the view of asking how we can get to where this bill wants to take us, rather than identifying 
obstacles on which they will rely in order to oppose the bill. It is important for the house to bear in mind that this 
legislation is about enabling and that it is a mechanism rather than something that will amend a series of other 
laws. I specifically want to talk about that because recommendation 1 of the committee report, and the matter 
raised by both Hon Simon O’Brien and Hon Giz Watson, went to whether clause 19 ought to be amended to 
include the description of all proposed individual cross-border regions, either within the clause or by reference to 
a schedule of the bill. The point made by the committee was that it was necessary for the house to consider this, 
because it took the view that the bill had an effect on the sovereignty of the state, and that it affected the integrity 
of our borders. 
The government says that this is not in fact the case; the bill does not affect the sovereignty of the state or the 
integrity of our borders. However, it is an enabling tool—under the defined circumstances I set out earlier that 
meet the definition of “connected”—to authorise certain defined officers to act under the laws of the other 
jurisdiction. That is an important point to make, because it is the reason the government will not accept 
recommendation 1 of the committee’s report. The government does not accept that the issue is about affecting 
sovereignty; we say it is an enabling tool in certain defined circumstances to authorise officers to act in 
accordance with our laws. In fact, the enabling provisions will operate for the mutual benefit of each of the 
participating jurisdictions, so no jurisdiction will be disadvantaged by the proposals in the legislation. It does not 
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diminish any of the jurisdictions’ sovereignty or the integrity of their borders. It provides jurisdictions with 
enhanced provisions to enforce their laws. In a sense, the precise boundaries of the areas we are talking about are 
a work in progress.  

Only one cross-border region will be prescribed under this bill. It may well be that the need will arise for other 
specific areas to be incorporated, but currently we are referring to only one area. It is still the case that the 
precise dimensions of that area have not been determined and are still subject to discussion between the three 
jurisdictions. It may be necessary, from time to time, to adjust the boundaries of a particular cross-border region 
because circumstances change or because one of the jurisdictions might have a view that it needs to be adjusted. 
This bill has been drafted to allow for additional cross-border regions to be prescribed. Whether that happens 
will really depend in no small part on how we go with the first one. In a sense, this will be a pilot exercise and, in 
part, that is the reason that the government is comfortable with the proposition of a three-year review. The 
government believes that it is a sensible way to go. We are treading new ground and it is important that we have 
a formal way of evaluating the success or otherwise of this proposal.  

One of the issues raised by both members was the committee’s deliberations pertaining to recommendation 2. 
They questioned whether it is the government’s intention that this legislation apply exclusively to Indigenous 
people in remote communities. Perhaps it is unfortunate that there was an exchange in the course of the witness 
hearings that was perhaps not precise. I am sure that it was not intended to mislead the committee, but perhaps it 
has led to some confusion.  
Hon Simon O’Brien: It was more the second reading speech than some of the material that came up. The 
witnesses actually clarified it. That in turn meant that there was a contradiction. That is the reason it was raised.  
Hon SUE ELLERY: It is certainly not intended that it apply exclusively to Indigenous people. I think that both 
members, but certainly Hon Giz Watson, pointed out that the majority of the population in the demographic we 
are talking about are Indigenous people. The problems of people seeking to elude the long arm of the law and 
skip court appearances applies to Indigenous and non-Indigenous offenders and it is not intended that this bill 
apply exclusively to Indigenous people.  

The genesis of this bill was a group of Indigenous women who said that they had had enough of the 
consequences of offenders eluding the law and skipping their court appearances. They definitely believe that this 
legislation will be of benefit to Indigenous communities because it will ensure that the circuit pertaining to some 
of those offences is broken.  
The other key matter the committee and both speakers who participated in the second reading debate raised is 
why it was deemed necessary to reverse the onus of proof in respect of whether a person has a connection to the 
cross-border region, specifically the provisions in clauses 27 and 28. I point out that the onus of proof is not 
reversed in respect of the substantive charge that brings the person before the court. It is the case, though, that 
because of the point I made earlier, this jurisdiction only kicks in when the criteria determine that a connection 
exists. I outlined those criteria earlier; that is, the alleged offence occurred within the cross-border region, the 
offender was arrested within the region or the offender normally resides in the region. This jurisdiction kicks in 
only if one or more of those criteria apply. That being the case, the threshold question to be established is 
whether the jurisdiction can apply. If somebody takes the view that they do not fit that criteria, and the threshold 
jurisdictional question does not apply, we say that it is not unreasonable that the onus of proof is on that person 
to demonstrate that there is no connection. It is a threshold question as to whether the jurisdiction applies at all. 
For those reasons, we ask the house to accept that there is a reasonable argument to apply the provision that it is 
not unreasonable to require of a defendant who is claiming to have no relevant connection—that is, a defendant 
who is claiming that the jurisdiction does not apply—to prove that on the balance of probabilities, which is the 
test applied under the civil onus of proof. As we are talking about the threshold question of whether the 
jurisdiction applies, we say that it is not unreasonable. 
Another matter that both members touched on was also canvassed by the standing committee in recommendation 
4, in which the committee asked that the minister advise the house in detail about what impact proposed part 12 
will have on the settled property law of Western Australia. This was in relation to how fines enforcement would 
operate under the provisions set out in the bill. Currently, if we want to pursue fines enforcement, we need to 
register in the Western Australian court a judgement that has been made in another jurisdiction, and then pursue 
fine enforcement. Under this proposition, we would go straight to the fines enforcement procedure. All this is 
doing is making the registration and execution of fines imposed by the courts of the participating jurisdictions 
easier where the person fined has a connection with a cross-border region. The process of execution against the 
property of people who are subject to a fine imposed by the courts will not change at all. It is about making the 
execution of the fines easier for those people who fit within the definition of having a connection with a cross-
border region.  
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Some of the other matters raised by members are probably better dealt with in a more detailed discussion in the 
committee stage, so I propose that we hold that discussion then. I want to touch briefly on some of the issues the 
committee touched on, but which were not recommendations. One of those matters was who would be the 
responsible minister for the relevant officer. This was a question of accountability raised in the committee report. 
The minister responsible would be the minister of the participating jurisdiction in which the relevant officer 
holds office. A Western Australian police officer is responsible to the Commissioner of Police in Western 
Australia. The minister would be responsible to the Parliament of the participating jurisdiction. 

The other matter that the committee report touched on, but was not the subject of a recommendation, was the 
extent to which customary law might be impacted by the provisions proposed by the bill. At paragraph 8.2, the 
committee report raised the extent to which enhanced police presence in the cross-border region may impact, 
overlay, displace or complicate the existing customary legal framework of the region. To the extent that 
customary law is already part of the general law of each of the relevant jurisdictions, it will continue to apply. It 
is not necessarily possible to measure the extent to which the increased police presence will impact on the way 
customary law is applied, but there is no reason to believe that Indigenous people will not continue to apply the 
sanctions they are able to under their customary law wherever appropriate. They will also take into account 
penalties that might have been imposed by the courts under the non-Indigenous justice system. 

The committee raised another matter on which it did not make a recommendation but did make a comment at 
paragraph 11.1. Under the heading “Extent of the Problem to be Remedied by the Bill”, the report states — 

The Committee was not provided with any statistical data indicating the extent of the problem which 
the Bill proposed to address. Nor were any of the witnesses before the committee able to provide such 
data. 

We are talking about offenders who are avoiding the system; therefore, measuring the extent of offending is 
quite difficult and may be even more difficult, as we are talking about measuring offences that occur in other 
jurisdictions, which in fact is the point of the bill. However, I believe the pertinent information is provided in the 
second reading speech about the genesis of the bill; that is, where it came from. It came from a group of women 
who said that they wanted to break the circuit of domestic violence, child abuse and substance abuse. They said 
that they were not able to use the circuit-breakers that the courts and the police provide because people were 
eluding those circuit-breakers by crossing over the borders, which to those women are artificial and imposed 
boundaries. There is no doubting the problem in that those women have pursued this matter. If we think about 
the fact that we as a group of legislators have identified this legislation as a challenge, just imagine the 
challenges that those women foresaw before them in taking up this issue and seeing it through to the point that it 
is at today. I must say: more power to their arm. Those women clearly identified the reasons for pursuing this 
path. 

I thank members for their contributions. I acknowledge both the content and the spirit of the contributions that 
have been made by members. We are breaking new ground, and I am pleased that all parties are doing so with a 
view towards the best outcome, as opposed to foreseeing obstacles that would have prevented us from getting 
here. I commend the bill to the house. 

Question put and passed. 

Bill read a second time. 

Committee 

The Chairman of Committees (Hon George Cash) in the chair; Hon Sue Ellery (Minister for Child Protection) in 
charge of the bill. 

Clauses 1 to 3 put and passed. 

Clause 4: Act gives effect to cooperative schemes — 

Hon SIMON O’BRIEN: Will the minister advise members of the current status of the intergovernmental 
agreement? I indicated earlier that the agreement is basically a reflection of the bill as it is before us. This clause 
certainly applies to Western Australia. What have South Australia and Northern Territory done? 

Hon SUE ELLERY: I think the honourable member indicated in his contribution to the second reading debate 
that he was aware that the intergovernmental agreement had been signed by the other jurisdictions. I am advised 
that cabinet in both jurisdictions has given approval for drafting.  

Hon SIMON O’BRIEN: This might be as good a place as any to raise this matter; it was touched on in the 
committee report, but I have not referred to it yet. At chapter 20, the committee discussed the potential 
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involvement of the commonwealth Service and Execution of Process Act 1992. Will there be a need here for 
commonwealth legislation to ensure that the scheme entered into with the other two jurisdictions is valid?  

Hon SUE ELLERY: It is necessary. Unless the Service and Execution of Process Act is amended to 
accommodate this scheme, it will prevail with the default position, if we like, over any provision of the scheme 
that is inconsistent with its provisions. I am advised that the commonwealth has agreed to amend that act to give 
cross-border magistrates the choice of proceeding under either the Service and Execution of Process Act or the 
cross-border legislation.  

Hon SIMON O’BRIEN: Can the minister confirm whether the government has had the opportunity to confer 
with the federal government? Is the federal government being helpful? Is the new government being recalcitrant, 
unhelpful, pig headed or not inclined to support this very good initiative? Can the minister give us some good 
news on that?  

Hon SUE ELLERY: I am not rising to the bait of the very provocative comments about the new federal 
government! Of course it is cooperating. Conversations have been held between officers about WA’s views 
about the best way for the commonwealth to proceed.  

Clause put and passed.  

Clauses 5 to 17 put and passed.  
Clause 18: Offences, orders and requirements in relation to which State’s cross-border laws apply — 

Hon GIZ WATSON: This clause deals with retrospectivity. It states — 

(1) The State’s cross-border laws apply in relation to an offence under the law of a participating 
jurisdiction whether the offence is suspected of having been committed, or is alleged or found 
to have been committed, before or after the commencement of this Act. 

(2) The State’s cross-border laws apply in relation to an order made under the law of a 
participating jurisdiction whether the order was made before or after the commencement of 
this Act. 

(3) The State’s cross-border laws apply in relation to a requirement to do something under the law 
of a participating jurisdiction whether the requirement arose before or after the commencement 
of this Act. 

I said in my second reading contribution that we are fundamentally opposed to retrospective legislation. I am 
interested in the minister’s comments about why this clause is considered necessary.  

Hon SUE ELLERY: I will start with the explanation that this change is not about making an offence out of 
anything that is currently not an offence. This is about ensuring that the intent of this bill will apply to the 
broadest possible group of people. This clause is in fact prospective rather than retrospective, in the sense that a 
person who has had a set of charges laid against him will now be able to take advantage of the things that will 
flow from this bill, such as better outcomes for offenders. I am not expressing this very eloquently, but it is an 
administrative mechanism. It is not inconsistent with the way procedural matters are dealt with generally at law. 
The critical issue from the member’s point of view is, as I have said, that this change will not make an offence 
out of anything that is currently not an offence.  

Hon GIZ WATSON: Is there any indication of how many people might be caught by this retrospective 
provision?  

Hon SUE ELLERY: I will start by challenging the member’s language. I would argue that people would gain 
the benefit of this provision rather than be caught by this provision.  

Hon Giz Watson: Perhaps I should ask how many people might be captured by this particular provision.  

Hon SUE ELLERY: We are talking about three jurisdictions, so I am not in a position to give the member an 
idea of the numbers. 
Clause put and passed.  

Clause 19: Cross-border regions to be prescribed — 
Hon SIMON O’BRIEN: This matter was canvassed during the second reading debate. I also pointed out during 
the second reading debate that there is a range of potentially very technical matters that one could canvass and 
spend a great deal of time in so doing. It is not the opposition’s intention to become bogged down on this matter. 
However, this clause does merit some attention as an illustration of the sorts of issues that will have to be worked 
through with this different piece of legislation.  
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The first issue is the matter that I and the committee have already alluded to about the cross-border region being 
defined by prescription in regulation. I have a basic question, because this is a pretty fundamental issue. Has a 
regulation been framed; and, if not, how would it be framed? Would it be in connection with the straight lines on 
a map that Hon Giz Watson alluded to or would it be a description of, for example, a certain people’s recognised 
territory? How would the minister mechanically describe it?  

Hon SUE ELLERY: I am advised that it will either be by way of a map or coordinates. It has been deemed too 
difficult to do it by way of what we interchanged; that is, some reference to connection to particular country. It is 
being done in consultation with the relevant agencies but also with Aboriginal people.  

Hon SIMON O’BRIEN: I am happy with that, so I will move on. For this whole regime to work, we need our 
partner jurisdictions to also legislate for it. For want of a better place to ask this question, what status will this 
law have when Western Australia alone has passed this bill and made necessary regulation, for example, to 
define a region? We cannot do anything until we have that, and that is how I am able to raise this matter under 
this clause. What will be the status of this when Western Australia alone has legislated and we are waiting on the 
others—if that is the case—to catch up? Can any of it have effect if we are doing it in isolation?  

Hon SUE ELLERY: The straightforward answer to that question is no. At least two jurisdictions are required to 
put their legislation in place in order for it to have any operational effect.  

Hon SIMON O’BRIEN: I thank the minister for that answer. Similarly, what will be the situation should 
Western Australia prescribe a cross-border region, by definition, and that region takes in territory of another 
jurisdiction or jurisdictions? If another jurisdiction has not similarly regulated for an identical area, could the 
scheme have effect?  

Hon SUE ELLERY: Yes; of its nature, this requires cooperation and agreement. Each jurisdiction will define its 
own bit, but those bits will constitute the cross-border region. That is the challenge. It requires everybody to be 
on board and in agreement about that, and that is why it is so astounding that we have gotten this far. 

Hon SIMON O’BRIEN: Fortunately, Victoria is not involved, so we are fairly right there. This is an important 
point. Obviously, it would be an absurdity for our partnering jurisdictions to gazette different regions. One can 
only assume that the system could not work unless the same territory were gazetted in two or more jurisdictions. 
If there were a slight discrepancy in the timing of a second or third set of regulations—there could be a bit of a 
time lag of a week or a month, with one jurisdiction catching up on the other—I imagine that if there were an 
overlap in a region, so that both jurisdictions had adopted the same territory, that would be covered by this 
agreement. I am speculating a bit here. 

Hon Sue Ellery: If you were to make changes, you would need to have agreement on the date that those changes 
came into effect. You would operate under the old definition of the border of the region until everybody was in 
agreement on the date that the changes would come into effect. 

Hon SIMON O’BRIEN: That is a very useful interjection, and we are making progress in working through this 
issue. Obviously, that is what would happen in a cooperative scheme. In that way, some of the issues that I have 
alluded to do not arise, so that is the best way through it. I return to the question raised by my committee, and we 
have heard the minister’s answer about that. 

Hon Bruce Donaldson: I hope it’s public. 

Hon Sue Ellery: It is a published report. 

Hon SIMON O’BRIEN: There is a published report. The member’s copy is at home under his pillow! 

Hon Bruce Donaldson: I’m just making sure that you weren’t going to say something that you’d regret. 

Hon SIMON O’BRIEN: I might start hearing things that I regret. No, I certainly will not do that. 
There are two protections. The first is that there is an amendment on the supplementary notice paper to insert a 
review clause, which I think will give us the chance to review the legislation in a reasonable time frame. The 
second protection is the nature of what we have just been talking about; that is, the need for multijurisdictional 
cooperation. That will also act as a deterrent to a draftsman or regulation map doer-upper getting a rush of blood 
to the head and gazetting the whole of Western Australia as a cross-border region. I am sure that that helps 
reassure the committee about this clause. With all that in mind, the opposition will support the clause, although 
we will watch with interest to make sure that it runs smoothly when passed into law. 
Clause put and passed. 

Clauses 20 to 26 put and passed. 

Clause 27: Onus of proving person’s whereabouts at time of arrest — 
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Hon GIZ WATSON: I made some extensive comments on the issue of the reversal of onus of proof that arises 
in clauses 27 and 28. Could the minister indicate why it is considered necessary to reverse the onus of proof, 
whereas normally it is the requirement, particularly in criminal law, that the prosecution should provide all the 
elements of the offence? 

Hon SUE ELLERY: I did canvass this in my response to the second reading debate. This does not challenge the 
onus of proof in the substantive charge. It does not change anything about the onus of proof in the matter that 
brought the person before the court. The threshold question is whether the jurisdiction applies; therefore, that is 
the first thing that has to be determined. In that instance, if someone were challenging whether the jurisdiction 
applied, the onus would be on that person to prove that it did not. The jurisdiction applies if any of the three 
criteria that I set out before are met; that is, if the alleged offence occurred in the cross-border region, if the 
alleged offender was arrested in the cross-border region or if the alleged offender normally resides in the cross-
border region. The threshold question is a very narrow jurisdictional matter to be met. It ought to be the case that 
if a person is claiming that the jurisdiction does not apply to him, the onus is on him to explain to the court why 
that is the case and to demonstrate that he does not indeed meet any of those three criteria. The advice I have is 
that it is envisaged that it would be rare for a defendant to deny that he had a relevant connection, but even if it 
should occur and the defendant could prove on the balance of probability an absence of connection with the 
region, the magistrate would simply proceed under the Service and Execution of Process Act, which we were 
talking about before, in the same way as a magistrate does currently.  
Hon GIZ WATSON: I thank the minister for that explanation. I am satisfied. 
Hon SIMON O’BRIEN: Once again, the opposition finds itself in the role of potentially having the balance of 
power! However, Hon Giz Watson has relieved that pressure. We share the view that although the committee 
was quite right to raise this matter for consideration, upon that consideration, which needs to involve the 
minister’s response, which we could receive only at this time, and which we have received, we find this is not a 
situation of an alarming reversal of the onus of proof, in the sense that someone must prove he is not guilty 
rather than the other way around. We have debated these matters very regularly. This is more by way of an 
averment, I would have thought. The example that I have used in the past in this place is of a single element of 
an offence; for example, the person had not paid a charge or a tax that was payable. That could be an element 
that may be averred and taken by way of a solemn declaration, and although the proof of that declaration is not 
required to be produced in court, it would, nonetheless, be available if it were so required. In the meantime, 
when so averred, the element would be taken to be proved by the court. Some people get upset about this 
prospect. In reality it is absolutely necessary that such a provision exists. In that same example of someone who 
had failed to pay a tax that was payable, the actual element that he had not paid the tax may be averred simply 
for two reasons. First, it is easy for the person to demonstrate that that is not the case—he simply has to produce 
his receipt. Conversely, if the prosecution wanted to prove that the person had not paid his tax, theoretically the 
prosecution would need to bring into the court every receipt that the state Treasury and government departments 
had issued for that tax and go through them one by one to show that that person’s tax receipts did not exist, 
which, of course, would be absurd, as it is in this situation. It would be prodigiously difficult for an element such 
as this to be proved. However, it would be quite easy, given the level of proof required, for someone to show that 
the situation did or did not apply to him. The opposition is happy with clauses 27 and 28.  
Clause put and passed.  
Clauses 28 to 72 put and passed.  

Clause 73: Legal practitioners of another participating jurisdiction entitled to appear etc. — 
Hon GIZ WATSON: The minister will, of course, note that I asked some questions about this clause in my 
second reading contribution, particularly with regard to Aboriginal court officers being required to operate 
outside Western Australia and potentially in courts in the Northern Territory and South Australia. What 
provision has been provided to cover the extra costs that will arise once legal practitioners are required to 
participate in other jurisdictions? I imagine that there will be significant costs in terms of travel and training and 
in providing sufficient funding to the various organisations that I have mentioned, such as Legal Aid WA and the 
Aboriginal Legal Service of Western Australia. Is resourcing guaranteed to ensure that all those representatives 
can operate in the cross-border jurisdictions?  

Hon SUE ELLERY: The legislation provides the tool, the enabling mechanism, to give officers the authority to 
act under the participating jurisdictions when they are in another jurisdiction. It does not set out the financial 
requirements—nor should it—to enable that to happen. The best advice I can provide to the member is that 
planning is underway to ensure that in the event that the bill is passed, it works. I am not in a position to provide 
any more information about the precise details of the financial resources that are being contemplated.  

Hon GIZ WATSON: I understand that the implementation of this bill might be a way off. Is there any 
indication of what the additional costs will be?  
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Hon SUE ELLERY: I am not in a position to provide the information. Perhaps the honourable member can 
have a conversation with the Attorney General. Alternatively, I am happy to raise this issue with the Attorney 
General. I can advise that consideration is being given to planning the kinds of resources that may be needed. 
However, I cannot provide more detail than that.  
Clause put and passed. 

Clauses 74 to 119 put and passed. 

Clause 120: Terms used in this Part — 
Hon SIMON O’BRIEN: The custom of the chamber is to examine each clause. My concerns relate to the part, 
so I have simply caused us to pause at the first clause in that part.  

Part 12 relates to the enforcement of fines. The example given in the material provided by government outlines 
what will happen if a person commits an offence in one state and is dealt with in another jurisdiction, and the 
offender is subject to a fine, which is described in part 12 as follows — 

“fine” includes a pecuniary penalty, pecuniary forfeiture, pecuniary compensation and fees, charges 
and costs . . .  

That fine may be recovered from the convicted person’s property in that other jurisdiction, if he has any 
property. Have I read that correctly? If someone has offended in Western Australia and is dealt with in South 
Australia and has property in South Australia, would that South Australian property be available to help recover 
a fine?  

Hon SUE ELLERY: The answer is yes. The fine would need to be registered in South Australia, to use the 
example that the member gave, but the property in South Australia would be subject to the fines enforcement 
process. 

Hon SIMON O’BRIEN: So even though the person is convicted and a penalty is imposed in a South Australian 
court by a South Australian officer using Western Australian law, because that is where the offence took place, 
there is still access to the South Australian property?  

Hon Sue Ellery: Yes. 

Hon SIMON O’BRIEN: That seems to clarify that matter. 

Clause put and passed. 

Clauses 121 to 142 put and passed. 

Clause 143: Protection of office holders of another participating jurisdiction taking action in State — 

Hon SIMON O’BRIEN: This is one of those clauses on which there could be an indefinite number of questions, 
but the minister will be glad to know that I will ask only one. Again, it relates to a hypothetical situation, but it 
comes about because of the rather unique nature of this bill. As we all know, we have laws to deal with 
misconduct or corrupt activity by a public officer in Western Australia. That would apply, for example, if an 
officer engaged in misconduct in the course of any duties in arresting a Western Australian person in a cross-
border region of Western Australia or arresting a South Australian offender in Western Australia, and so on. The 
question that I want to ask has been alluded to at paragraph 9.4 of the committee’s report, and it is put in these 
terms: if a Western Australian police officer is acting in a secondary capacity—that is, that officer is on Western 
Australian soil performing duties as a South Australian police officer—would that officer be subject to the 
jurisdiction of the Corruption and Crime Commission or would he still be a Western Australian public officer for 
the purposes of the exercise? This might seem to be an awfully obscure hypothetical situation, but it is the sort of 
situation that could arise if someone way out in the middle of nowhere found a loophole that provided him with 
an opportunity to misuse his power against another person. I am wondering whether that has been contemplated 
by government and whether it is possible to address that in any positive way at this time. 

Hon SUE ELLERY: I will start by making the point that in fact clause 143 will not have the effect that is 
suggested in paragraph 9.5 of the committee’s report. Clause 143 applies to office holders from another 
participating jurisdiction, not to Western Australian police officers. Therefore, I will put that to one side. 
However, that does not go to the example that the honourable member has set out, which is that of a Western 
Australian officer acting under the authority of South Australian law. In that case, that officer would be subject 
to the South Australian provisions. 

Hon Simon O’Brien: Right. 

Hon SUE ELLERY: That is the answer to that question, but the member should not get that question confused 
with clause 143, because that is a separate matter. 
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Clause put and passed. 

Clauses 144 to 157 put and passed. 

New clause 147 — 

Hon GIZ WATSON: I move — 

Page 84, after line 18 — To insert the following new clause —  

147. Review of this Act 

(1) The Minister must carry out a review of the operation and effectiveness of 
this Act as soon as practicable after the expiry of 3 years from the 
commencement of this Act. 

(2) The Minister must —  

(a) prepare a report on the outcome of the review; and 

(b) cause a copy of the report to be laid before each House of 
Parliament within 4 years after the commencement of this Act. 

The fundamental reason I think a review clause is useful is that this is a novel area of legislation and there are a 
number of matters that might warrant adjustment in a quite short period. I appreciate the fact that the minister 
has accommodated the proposition; it will also assist with the questions that arose around clause 19 to do with 
the definition of “region”. When I originally proposed the review clause, I hoped that it might include some 
specific requirements. I was advised that it would be better to leave the provision broad rather than prescriptive. 
However, it was interesting to note that when I checked the review provision for the Corruption and Crime 
Commission Act, it turned out to be quite prescriptive. The review clause for this bill is a modified version of the 
review provisions expressed in the Corruption and Crime Commission Act. I am happy with that, but I just 
thought it was interesting that it obviously can be drafted in more detail. However, having said that, I am happy 
with this amendment and I ask members to support it. 

Hon SIMON O’BRIEN: I knew we should have stopped at clause 2, but fortunately this new clause gives me 
an opportunity to ask a question. The terms of the amendment provide for the review to take place as soon as 
practicable after the expiry of three years from the commencement of the act. “As soon as practicable” can mean 
all sorts of things, and it might have to be fairly elastic in this situation. My understanding of clause 2—I want to 
gain an understanding of clause 2—is that because there is a range of possible commencement dates for different 
provisions to be proclaimed, the commencement of the act would actually be on the day of royal assent; that is, 
when clause 1 commences. Is that correct? We might find that effective commencement does not take place until 
a heck of a long time after that, because we may have to wait for other jurisdictions to play catch-up, regulations 
to be promulgated and the like. I just want to clarify when day one actually is, in order to make sure that three 
years will actually give us enough time to get some runs on the board. 

Hon SUE ELLERY: In situations in which different parts of an act commence on different dates, the 
commencement date is the date that the last part comes into operation. There is no point in starting to think about 
the review until all of the bits are in place. That is the answer to the member’s question about when we start 
counting the three years.  

I indicate the government’s support for the amendment moved by Hon Giz Watson. It is a good idea. Frankly, 
from my point of view, we owe it to those women who came up with this proposition in the first place to make 
sure that we properly evaluate the bill and meet the objectives that we said we would when we gave them the 
commitment that we would proceed down this path.  

Hon SIMON O’BRIEN: The opposition concurs.  

New clause put and passed.  

Title put and passed. 

Bill reported, with an amendment.  
 


